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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	SYLVIA A. ENGLISH, 

                                           Employee, 

                                                Applicant,

                                                   v. 

DENALI FOODS, INC.; d/b/a 

TACO BELL,

                                           Employer,

                                                   and 

WAUSAU UNDERWRITERS INS. CO.,

                                           Insurer,

                                                Defendants.
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	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200508120M, 200523681
AWCB Decision Nos.  09-0194
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on December 16, 2009


Sylvia A. English’s (Employee) claim was dismissed on December 29, 2006, for failure to sign releases.  Her “Motion to Reopen Case” dated December 21, 2007, was heard on May 13, 2009, and July 15, 2009, and Employer’s request for oral argument on its “Notice of Additional Relevant Evidence” dated August 31, 2009, was heard on September 23, 2009, all in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney William M. Erwin represented Employee.  Attorney Tasha M. Porcello represented Denali Foods, Inc., and its insurer (Employer).  The record closed at the conclusion of each hearing.

Witnesses at the May 13, 2009 hearing included Employee testifying on her own behalf; Employer called no witnesses.  At the July 15, 2009 hearing, Employee called herself and her mother Sylvia S. English as witnesses; Employer called no witnesses.  At the September 23, 2009 hearing, no witnesses were called as the only purpose was to allow oral argument on “Employer’s Notice of Additional Relevant Evidence.”
Board members for the three hearings were as follows: May 13, 2009: Patricia Vollendorf and Janet Waldron; July 15, 2009: Patricia Vollendorf and Robert Weel; September 23, 2009: Patricia Vollendorf and Janet Waldron.  When the May 13, 2009 hearing was continued, Employer requested the same panel composition for the subsequent hearing on the merits.  An effort to accommodate was made; however, panel member Janet Waldron was unavailable on July 15, 2009, and panel member Robert Weel substituted for her and neither party objected.  The designated chair remained the same for all three hearings.  Accordingly, to further the legislature’s intent to ensure a quick and efficient delivery of benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to employers, and to obviate the need for three decisions, any applicable procedures related to panel members’ signatures on decisions shall be modified.  Board members participating in the three hearings shall sign this decision and order (D & O) reflecting their agreement with the results as they pertain to the particular hearings in which they participated.  However, only one panel heard and decided the results of each hearing in this claim.

ISSUES

This decision addresses issues raised in three separate hearings.  At the May 13, 2009 hearing, as a preliminary matter Employee’s counsel contended Employee may not understand what was transpiring in the proceedings or why there was a hearing.  Employee’s counsel contended he was in an “ethical quandary” between the possible need to request a hearing continuance and moving forward with his client’s case, necessarily arguing she was not cognizant of past proceedings because of her mental status at the time she failed to sign medical releases in 2006.  He contended a prior attorney-client conversation disclosed his client believed the case had already been “reopened” and the May 13, 2009 hearing was on her case’s merits.  Employee’s counsel also suggested it may be necessary to request a guardian or other representative to protect Employee’s interests.  He was concerned he did not have authority from Employee to move forward in the manner he felt would best protect her interests.  

Employer contended at the May 13, 2009 hearing the issue was whether or not Employee “appeared to be legally competent” during the 2006 hearing giving rise to her claim’s dismissal.  Employer understood and shared Employee’s counsel’s concern if Employee was not currently “competent,” it put her attorney in a “truly difficult” situation.  Nonetheless, Employer agreed if Employee was not competent to understand what was happening, it would not oppose a continuance.  It further contended before Employee’s current counsel filed his 2007 petition, it had no reason to suspect Employee was not mentally competent and no reason to investigate the matter.

After a brief recess, Employee requested a continuance so her parents could undertake her representation in lieu of counsel.  Employee’s counsel contended his continued representation of Employee following her request may not be authorized, may be an ethical violation on his part, and may result in irreparable harm to Employee’s case.  Employer contended the issue at this hearing may be whether or not Employee is “ill.”  The May 13, 2009 hearing was continued with the promise of a written decision, based upon oral factual findings entered on the record.  The findings included the need for additional evidence or arguments necessary to complete the hearing addressing questions concerning Employee’s mental capability to understand the hearing process, a breakdown between Employee and her counsel and the resulting ethical quandary, and the possibility Employee’s lack of ability to cooperate with her counsel may cause her claim irreparable harm.

At the July 15, 2009 hearing, Employee contended the board has inherent discretion and authority to look after unrepresented, injured workers.  She argued the issue is not whether or not Employee was “mentally incompetent” in December 2006, but rather whether or not, because of her mental status, she misunderstood or mistrusted the legal process and her requirements under the Act to sign discovery releases and the consequences of her refusal to do so.  Consequently, Employee argued the board had subject matter jurisdiction over this type of question.

Employer contended the board lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the issue of whether or not Employee was or is “mentally incompetent.”  Furthermore, Employer contended Employee was never declared mentally incompetent by any court.  Consequently, it contended the board had no statutory jurisdiction to determine whether or not Employee was mentally incompetent at any relevant times in 2006.  Employer contended only the court system has power to determine whether or not Employee was mentally competent at the relevant times in 2006; the board may decide it thinks Employee may not have been competent, or it does not know whether or not Employee was competent, but it could not determine Employee was incompetent at the time she failed or refused to sign the releases, which resulted in her case’s dismissal.

1) Does the board have subject matter jurisdiction to determine whether or not Employee, because of her mental status, understood the requirement to sign discovery releases and the consequences of her failure to sign releases at all relevant times before her case was dismissed in 2006?

Employee contended she properly and timely filed her petition for modification, thus preserving her rights.  Employer contended Employee never appealed the December 29, 2006 D & O, and only had one year to request and obtain modification pursuant to AS 23.30.130.  Accordingly, Employer contended the one year began on either December 20, 2006, when the board issued its oral order or on December 29, 2006, when the D & O was issued; in either case, Employer contended because the petition was not actually served by Employee on Employer until December 26, 2007, and no Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing was filed on Employee’s December 21, 2007 Petition until September 3, 2008, the board’s authority to act on Employee’s petition “expired” and the board no longer has authority to rule on the petition for modification under §130.

2) Was Employee’s December 21, 2007 “Motion to Reopen Case” timely filed, and does the board still have authority to decide it?

Employee contended the December 2006 panel made mistakes in its determination of facts, specifically by not investigating and determining Employee’s ability to understand her legal obligations because of her mental state at the time she refused to sign releases, and her understanding of the consequences for failure to sign; therefore the December 29, 2006 D & O should be modified pursuant to AS 23.30.130.  Employee contended the 2006 panel had a parens patriae duty to look after and protect an unrepresented injured worker, which it failed to fulfill.  She contended her medical records going back to 2000 showed Employee had mental-health issues; Social Security required a payee for Employee’s Social Security disability benefits; from 2004 Employee sought regular, monthly mental health care, which ceased in May 2006 resulting in a psychotic break.  Employee contended none of this information was revealed at the December 2006 hearing, which she characterized as a “quick,” and “preliminary hearing,” notwithstanding the board’s duty to inquire further had it reviewed the existing record in more detail.  Therefore, Employee contended the board erred by inferring Employee fully understood the nature of the proceedings and in finding she did not wish to pursue her claim.

Employer contended Employee was mentally competent at all relevant times in 2006 as evidenced by among other things her prior participation in her claim including but not limited to her previous signing of similar releases and traveling unaccompanied to Michigan to visit a friend.  Consequently, it contended the 2006 panel had no reason to investigate Employee’s mental competency at the time it dismissed her claim for failure sign discovery releases.  

3) Did the board make a mistake in its determination of a fact in its December 29, 2006 
D & O?

At the September 23, 2009 hearing, Employee contended she did not, on advice of counsel, have to sign any additional medical releases unless and until the December 29, 2006 D & O was modified.  In other words, she contended the case was dismissed unless and until it was un-dismissed; therefore, Employee had no legal obligation to sign any releases in a dismissed case.  Employee further contended the record closed at the conclusion of the July 15, 2009 hearing, and no motion was made to reopen the hearing to allow additional evidence.  She contended Employer was simply “bootstrapping” a new, unrelated issue that occurred after the fact, onto the last hearing.  Employee contended if the December 29, 2006 D & O were modified and vacated, Employee would immediately sign any and all appropriate releases.

Employer contended it was simply continuing on with its discovery, having used previously signed releases to discover some medical records relevant to Employee’s underlying claim.  It contended Employee had to, notwithstanding the dismissed state of her claim, both sign and return releases, or file a petition for a protective order -- and she did neither.  Employer contended this most recent refusal is relevant evidence to the matter pending from the July 15, 2009 hearing because it shows “a pattern” of Employee’s behavior, i.e., “more of the same.”  

4) Shall the hearing record from the July 15, 2009 hearing be reopened to allow additional evidence concerning Employee’s failure to sign post-July 15, 2009-hearing releases?

FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) In October 2004, Employee began working for Denali Foods as a cleaning person and cashier (English).

2) On May 20, 2005, Employee hurt her back while lifting a box of liquid grease into a dumpster; on October 27, 2005, Employee hurt her low back, shoulders and neck while sweeping, mopping floors and washing the walls (Reports of Injury; English).

3) Medical records from Anchorage Mental Health Services, Inc. (ACMH), which were not in the board’s file at the time of the December 20, 2006 hearing, show Employee was taking consistent doses of Zyprexa from April 11, 2006 through June 5, 2006, at which point she stopped appearing for her medication (ACMH Medical Orders dated April 11, 2006 through June 12, 2006).

4) On May 9, 2006, Employee saw her mental health worker reporting she had been off her Zyprexa, was hearing voices and thought someone had broken into her home because items were missing from her refrigerator (ACMH note dated May 9, 2006).  Employee continued thereafter to hear voices, some of which were talking about “workers’ compensation” issues.  Her caseworker noted Employee had “paranoid delusions and psychotic symptoms.”  These persisted for six ACMH visits from May 9, 2006 through May 17, 2006 (id. at respective dates).

5) On May 19, 2006, in the midst of Employee’s medically documented psychotic break, Employer sent Employee’s former attorney a letter with 10 enclosed releases, requesting they be signed and advising Employee had the right to file a petition for a protective order (May 19, 2006 letter with attachments).

6) From May 22, 2006 through August 29, 2007, Employee’s ACMHS records show a continuance of Employee’s psychotic break, including inpatient treatment at Alaska Psychiatric Institute (API).  On August 1, 2006 in particular, Employee’s hallucinations evidenced what a later employer’s medical evaluation (EME) would describe as “a very serious psychotic symptom” (id.; see also discussion of February 2, 2009 EME, infra).

7) On July 21, 2006, Employer controverted all benefits for Employee’s failure to sign the release of information forms (Controversion Notice dated July 21, 2006).

8) On August 15, 2006, Employer wrote to the Worker’s Compensation Officer concerning the pending second independent medical evaluation (SIME) and the lack of signed medical releases.  Employer objected to the SIME without complete medical records, and requested a stay of the SIME (August 15, 2006 letter).

9) On August 18, 2006, Employer filed a petition to compel discovery or dismiss Employee’s claims for failure to sign and return the May 19, 2006 discovery releases (Petition dated August 18, 2006).

10) On August 30, 2006, Employer filed a petition formally requesting the SIME be stayed unless and until the releases were returned from Employee (Petition dated August 30, 2006).

11) On August 31, 2006, Employee’s former attorney withdrew (Notice of Withdrawal).

12) On September 8, 2006, Employer wrote the Worker’s Compensation Officer reminding her Employer requested the SIME be stayed unless and until Employee returned Employer’s releases (September 8, 2006 letter).

13) On September 22, 2006, Employer filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on its August 30, 2006 petition (September 22, 2006 Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing).

14) On October 18, 2006, Employer wrote the Worker’s Compensation Officer complaining that no prehearing conference summary from a September 25, 2006 prehearing conference was forthcoming.  Employer requested a summary reiterating the Worker’s Compensation Officer’s oral order directing Employee to sign and return Employer’s releases (October 18, 2006 letter).

15) On November 16, 2006, the parties appeared at a prehearing conference at which Employer’s petition to dismiss was discussed.  Employee stated she did not believe Employer should be allowed to gather medical records on the injured body parts prior to two years before her injury.  Employee was ordered to sign releases for earlier time periods.  Employee got upset when earlier injuries were discussed and left the prehearing.    In response to Employer’s request for a hearing, December 20, 2006 was selected (November 16, 2006 Prehearing Conference Summary).

16) At the time of the December 20, 2006 hearing, the record included the following, relevant medical records:

A) On November 7, 2005, a Providence Hospital emergency room report notes a past medical history of “paranoid schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder” (Emergency Room Note dated November 7, 2005).

B) On January 28, 2006, EME Charles A. Simpson, D.C., and Ilmar Soot, M.D., included as part of Employee’s “general medical history” a previous diagnosis of “borderline schizophrenia and maybe a little depression.”  She advised them she took medication for her “brain,” but they did not pursue this part of Employee’s history (January 28, 2006 EME report; see Medical Summary dated March 21, 2006, received in the record March 21, 2006).

C) On September 26, 2006, SIME physician, William A. Ross, D.C., also noted as a diagnostic impression “paranoid schizophrenia” (Dr. Ross’ September 26, 2006 report; received in the record September 28, 2006). 

D) On September 27, 2006, SIME physician Thomas L. Gritzka, M.D., “integrated” Employee’s responses to his queries into his report while he reviewed the medical records provided.  He noted a diagnosis history of “paranoid schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder.”  However, Employee denied she was schizophrenic, and stated she did not know why the Anchorage Police Department once took her to Alaska Psychiatric Institute (API) for evaluation.  Employee told Dr. Gritzka she fired her attorney because he was “getting information to opposing counsel.”  Employee reported “sometimes I hear voices.”  She was reluctant to complete some of Dr. Gritzka’s forms when she learned they would be provided to “interested parties.”  Dr. Gritzka noted when Employee’s history was being taken she “appeared to lose contact with the line of questioning or the line of thought that was being pursued,” and “appeared to have lapses of attention.”  When Employee’s history of prior 1991 and 1994-95 back injuries was mentioned, Employee interjected this “should not be her medical records” and said the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Board told her nothing prior to two years before her date of injury “was allowed” for consideration in the analysis of her current work injury.  Dr. Gritzka’s diagnosis included “history of paranoid schizophrenia and personality disorder; no additional information available at this time.”  Dr. Gritzka further opined the examinee has a “mental health problem” that is not clearly defined in her medical records, including a long-standing history of hearing voices.  When Dr. Gritzka told her these sounded like auditory hallucinations, Employee stated “they are not hallucinations.”  She is “still hearing voices” and Dr. Gritzka opined Employee’s complaints of neck pain “have to be viewed in the light of her apparent mental health problem.”  Dr. Gritzka said “Employee apparently has a significant psychological factor but exactly how severe it is and how might affect her work tolerance is unknown at this time, without a psychiatric evaluation.”  In his view, Employee’s history as well as her complaints of physical symptoms “must be viewed in light of her mental health issues.”  Dr. Gritzka opined, based upon the above, it “should be clear” Employee needed a formal psychiatric evaluation and diagnosis to address her symptoms (Dr. Gritzka’s September 27, 2006 report; received in the record October 10, 2006).

17) At the December 20, 2006 hearing, Employer’s petition to dismiss Employee’s claim for failure to sign and return releases was heard.  Employer sought an order either requiring Employee to sign releases at the hearing, or if she refused, an order dismissing her claims (December 20, 2006 Tr. at 8-9).

18) Employee objected to the claim being dismissed because the doctors had shown her the radiographic films showing “damage and stuff” (id. at 9).  When redirected back to the issue at hand, she argued Employer wanted releases that went farther back than the two years it said in “the book.”  The hearing officer explained the law concerning retroactive releases before two years pre-injury based upon a reasonable basis to believe records of past injuries may exist, and Employee objected because she had never received the releases (id. at 10-11)

19) Employee tried to get help from an attorney and got paperwork from the board’s offices, but it “doesn’t make sense” to her.  Her father wanted her to get an attorney (English; id. at 11).

20) Employee testified she never received the releases presented to her at hearing in December 2006, and her prior attorney never provided her with any releases he may have been given by Employer (English).

21) The Designated Chair stated at the December 20, 2006 hearing: “All I know about your case right now is the petition to dismiss for failure to cooperate with the discovery process; I haven’t looked at your case on the merits” (December 20, 2006 Tr. at 12).

22) After a recess of indeterminate time, the record was left open briefly to allow Employee to review the releases given to her at the hearing, and to allow Employer to contact the board to advise whether or not Employee signed the releases.  If Employee signed the releases, without any alterations, and delivered them to Employer’s counsel’s office, the petition to dismiss would be denied.  If they were not signed “today” the petition to dismiss would be granted (id. at 14).

23) The hearing officer noted there had been no request for a protective order so that remedy was waived, and the case had been “stalled” because of Employee’s “noncooperation.”  He stated the system is meant to be a “quick, speedy and efficient forum” and further delay “will not be tolerated” (id.)

24) When asked if this oral order was “perfectly clear,” Employee objected and asked: “How can that be if I just received it today?” (id.; English).  She was advised her former attorney had entered an appearance and spoke for her; if she had difficulty communicating with her attorney, she had a duty to be more “proactive.”  The chair advised Employee if she failed to take a more proactive stance, “we don’t have patience for that.”  Employee had until 4:30 (about 6 hours) the date of hearing to sign and deliver the releases to Employer’s counsel’s office (id.).

25) The chair advised he was leaving for vacation that day, a decision would not be issued until probably the end of the month or the first part of January, depending upon Employee’s decision, advised Employee’s case will be dismissed or it won’t depending upon whether or not she signed the releases, and said “all right?”  Employee responded “okay” (id. at 15).

26) The December 20, 2006 hearing commenced at approximately 10:18 A.M., included a recess for deliberation, and ended at approximately 10:40 A.M. (Board’s records).

27) On December 21, 2006, Employer wrote the panel stating Employee did not deliver any releases by 4:30 PM on December 20, 2006; however, because “driving conditions were poor,” Employer waited until 9:30 A.M. December 21, 2006, before concluding Employee had elected not to comply with the order regarding the releases (December 21, 2006 letter).

28) In its December 29, 2006 D & O, the board made the following factual findings:

A) Employer made multiple requests to Employee for voluntary compliance signing is releases and only sought the board’s assistance when Employee did not comply.

B) Likening this case to Eppenger v. Chris Berg, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0147 (May 31, 2005), found Employee has “clearly indicated at hearing that she has no intentions of complying” with the board’s order or its designee’s discovery orders.

C) Employer unnecessarily incurred expenses of an SIME, and were the case to proceed, would likely incur substantial additional expenses having to re-do the SIME process with a complete medical record.

D) Employee “expressed she understood” if she did not sign releases on December 20, 2006, the board would dismiss her claims.

E) “Based on these representations” found “the employee no longer apparently wishes to pursue her claims against the employer” (December 29, 2006 D & O).

29) On February 6, 2007, Employee reported to her caseworker at ACMH she was concerned about her worker’s compensation case.  Employee noted she continued to run into barriers in the system and did not “trust anyone” to help her.  She might trust her mother to act as an intermediary if it was her “real mother.”  However, Employee was not sure the woman in Eagle River who claims to be her mother is actually “real” because she does not act as happy as Employee’s mother “should act.”  The clinician assessed Employee presented with more psychotic symptoms which affected her ability to advocate for herself.  She was “too paranoid” to trust anyone else to advocate for her, but nonetheless, she was not gravely disabled or imminently dangerous to herself or others (February 6, 2007 medical progress note).

30) On May 23, 2007, Social Security advised Employee she met medical and non-medical rules to qualify for retroactive disability benefits based upon medical evidence which showed Employee was “disabled from [her] mental health impairments” as of April 11, 2006 (Social Security claim information dated May 23, 2007).

31) On July 7, 2007, Social Security advised Employee it was holding benefit payments as it determined she needed a “representative payee” to help manage her disability payments (letter dated July 7, 2007).  Social Security sent this similar letter to Employee on three separate occasions seeking her action electing a representative payee (August 2, 2007 letter).

32) On or about August 22, 2007, Employee resumed her medications after a stay at API (ACMH note of August 22, 2007).

33) On November 28, 2007, Employee’s current counsel entered his appearance (Notice of Appearance dated November 28, 2007).

34) On December 21, 2007, Employee filed a petition styled a “Motion to Reopen Case” and an attached “Petition to Reinstate Worker’s Compensation Claim” along with Social Security records and more recent medical reports, discussed supra (Petition dated December 21, 2007 with attachments).  As grounds for her request, Employee listed:

A) Claimant was severely mentally disabled, with mental delusions and paranoid suspicions during the six months of 2006 and 2007.

B) These mental health issues were only partially controlled by medication.

C) Social Security found Employee disabled because of mental health impairments on May 23, 2007 and June 4, 2007.  The decision found impairments as of April 26, 2006, and began disability payments in October 2006.

D) Social Security appointed Employee’s mother Sylvia S. English to be representative payee.

E) Medication records from ACMH from 2000 through 2007 documented medication use for psychiatric illness.

F) In May 2006, Employee became erratic taking her medication, which corresponds with the period in her worker’s compensation case when she was not cooperative with her previous attorney.

G) At the December 2006 hearing, Employee was supposed to be accompanied by her psychiatric caseworker but appeared alone.

H) The board in December 2006 was not aware of Employee’s mental impairments.

I) The medical records demonstrate Employee was mentally impaired during 2006, and slipped further into psychoses, delusions and suspicions, which impaired her mental judgment to represent herself in this case, to understand the litigation process, and to obey Board orders.

J) Employee asked the board to rescind its dismissal order and reinstate Employee’s case for further proceedings.

35) On September 3, 2008, Employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on her December 21, 2007 petition (Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing dated September 3, 2008).

36) On February 2, 2009, Employee saw Eric Goranson, M.D., for a psychiatric EME.  His assignment was to provide an opinion with respect to whether Employee was “competent” to understand the nature of the hearing on December 20, 2006 (Goranson report at 25).  He acknowledged this was difficult because he was not present and all he had was transcripts to review.  Dr. Goranson concluded, notwithstanding her paranoid schizophrenia and severe underlying personality disorder likely borderline, “she was competent to understand the nature of the proceedings and the consequences of her actions” (id. at 26).  In his opinion, Employee was psychiatrically and legally competent on December 20, 2006 (id. at 26-27).

37) At the May 13, 2009 hearing, Employee testified she was formerly represented by an attorney whose paralegal sent her releases to sign.  Employee did not return the releases because they sought information as far back as 1989.  She felt the releases requesting information told “lies” because there was no information to obtain that far back.  Employee called her attorney and told him she did not understand why she needed to sign releases because there was no information to obtain; she explained it made no sense to sign releases because signing suggested there were “symptoms that were not there in years that things never happened to me” (English).

38) At the May 13, 2009 hearing, Employee testified she made application for Social Security disability in 2006.  Social Security required Employee’s mother to be Employee’s “payee” for disability benefits.  Employee was obtaining medication from ACMH on a monthly basis in 2006 (English).  Employee recalled flying to Michigan alone in 2006 to visit her friend Andrea.  She was capable of getting to the airport, going through security and flying to and from Michigan, though she missed her plane in Michigan, and her mother obtained a new ticket for her on a different flight home (id.).

39) At the May 13, 2009 hearing, Employee appeared easily confused on various dates of injury, prehearings and other issues addressed in her testimony (English).

40) At the May 13, 2009 hearing, Employee recalled the December 20, 2006 hearing; according to Employee, Stephanie Birdsall her case manager at ACMH accompanied her (English).  The record does not disclose anyone accompanied Employee to the December 20, 2006 hearing.  Employee testified she did not sign releases at the December 20, 2006 hearing because they were “prying into the paperwork” and she did not believe Employer had a right to do that (English).  She did not at that time think it would matter if the board “closed her case” and she would just get an attorney to “fight the case” (English).

41) As of May 13, 2009, Employee was taking Zyprexa; she took Zyprexa before she went to work for Taco Bell and was taking it while employed there.  She thought the then-current hearing was about her claim for benefits for her back injury, and her claim would be adjudicated on its merits (English).

42) Employee recalled the December 2006 hearing and did not think the panel members had authority to issue orders until the panel directed her to sign releases or they would “close the case.”  She stated she did not sign the releases because she did not “understand what the papers were about.”  Employee recalled “that guy sitting there in the middle” told her to sign releases or he would “close her case.”  Employee thought that “was wrong,” and she should have the option to “fight for her rights” on a “clear-cut case.”  Though Employee felt the releases were not relevant to her Taco Bell injury, she conceded she had disk injury in 1991 (English).  Employee signed releases at her lawyer’s request in 2009 because they were “different” than the releases her prior attorney wanted her to sign, which she refused to sign (id.).  

43) Employee signed the releases in 2009 because she was told if she did not, she would not be represented.  Employee did not want to sign releases related to the 1991 back injury because she contended that year was not requested in the releases.  Employee denied she ever saw a doctor in 1993 for her back (id.).  Employee thought the case could be “reopened” after the December D & O (id.).  

44) The May 13, 2009 hearing was continued, with the promise of a written decision, based upon inquiries at hearing suggesting Employee had mental health issues affecting her ability to interact with her representative.  Furthermore, a possible breakdown between Employee and her counsel because of Employee’s potential mental health issues placed her counsel in an ethical difficulty and there was a question whether or not Employee could understand the nature of the proceedings and thereby give her counsel appropriate assistance as he represented her.  Employee had signed some releases, which Employer used to obtain discovery, and Employee’s case is in a dismissed status meaning any delay caused by a continuance would cut against Employee’s best interest since her claim would remain dismissed until such time as Employee’s petition to modify the petition was eventually heard on its merits and possibly vacated (Designated Chair comments).  Employer requested the same panel composition when the hearing subsequently commenced on its merits; the panel agreed to attempt to accommodate Employer’s request (id.).

45) At the July 15, 2009 merit hearing, Employee through counsel stated she did not intend to raise a claim Employer waived its subject matter jurisdiction defense by appearing and arguing that defense among its other defenses rather than as a preliminary issue.  Consequently, it was agreed and determined Employer did not waive its subject matter jurisdiction defense by not arguing it as a separate, preliminary issue.

46) At the July 15, 2009 hearing, Employee testified in 2000 her brother took her to ACMH, for reasons she did not understand.  Employee was prescribed Abilify, and took it, but was never told why she should take it.  Employee was put back on Zyprexa by a new doctor; she did not understand why she sees doctors or why she is given medication.  Employee basically reiterated her testimony concerning releases from the previous hearing.   She also did not trust her former attorney and did not want to sign releases he gave her.  Employee signed releases her current attorney gave her because “they were different,” and if she did not sign them, she would not be represented by a lawyer (English).  At the December 2006 hearing, “dismiss the case” meant nothing to her at that time and “it is irrelevant” (id.).

47) At the July 15, 2009 hearing, Employee’s mother testified Employee, age 50, did not handle her own affairs for a time in the recent past and Social Security appointed her the “representative payee” in October 2007.  Employee applied for Social Security disability in October 2006, was approved in May 2007, and she was asked to be representative payee for Employee’s benefits retroactive back to five months prior to her application.  In 2008, she relinquished her payee status and Employee began taking care of her own financial needs.  Employee had been making regular visits to ACMH since probably 2005.  At some point in 2006, Employee stopped taking her Zyprexa and began going “backwards.”  Between July 2006 and December 2006, Employee did not appear stable, was “hearing voices,” and would get very confused, which is why Employee’s mother became her representative payee.  Employee’s mother suggested Employee obtain legal counsel for her worker’s compensation case (Sylvia S. English).

48) At the September 23, 2009 hearing, Employer argued post-July 15, 2009-hearing evidence of Employee’s failure and refusal to sign additional releases should be admitted and was relevant to the pending decision from the July 15, 2009 hearing (Employer’s hearing arguments).

49) Employee argued Employer was attempting to “bootstrap” post-hearing evidence into the case without having filed a request to “reopen the record.”  Employee’s counsel specifically advised his client not to sign and return releases because her case status was “dismissed,” and there was nothing for her to release unless and until the board un-dismissed the case (Employee’s hearing arguments).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

Sec. 13.26.010.  Jurisdiction of subject matter; consolidation of proceedings.  (a) The court has jurisdiction over protective proceedings and guardianship proceedings. . . . .

Title 13 of the Alaska Statutes provides comprehensive procedures for protective proceedings and guardianship appointments.  In particular, AS 13.26.010 gives the Alaska Superior Court jurisdiction over both proceedings.  Lanpher v. Trident Seafoods Corp., AWCB Decision No. 03-0035 at 11 (February 14, 2003).  See also, Thomas v. North Pacific Processors, AWCB Decision No. 93-0259 (October 14, 1993).  

Sec. 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) This chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) Worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).
Sec. 23.30.107.  Release of information.  (a)  Upon request, an employee shall provide written authority to the employer, carrier, rehabilitation specialist, or reemployment benefits administrator to obtain medical and rehabilitation information relative to the employee’s injury.  The request must include notice of the employee’s right to file a petition for a protective order with the board and must be served by certified mail to the employee’s address on the notice of injury or by hand delivery to the employee.  This subsection may not be construed to authorize an employer, carrier, rehabilitation specialist, or reemployment benefits administrator to request medical or other information that is not applicable to the employee’s injury.
Sec. 23.30.108.  Prehearings on discovery matters; objections to requests for release of information; sanctions for noncompliance.  (a) If an employee objects to a request for written authority under AS 23.30.107, the employee must file a petition with the board seeking a protective order within 14 days after service of the request.  If the employee fails to file a petition and fails to deliver the written authority as required by AS 23.30.107 within 14 days after service of the request, the employee’s rights to benefits under this chapter are suspended until the written authority is delivered.

(b) If a petition seeking a protective order is filed, the board shall set a prehearing within 21 days after the filing date of the petition.  At a prehearing conducted by the board’s designee, the board’s designee has the authority to resolve disputes concerning the written authority.  If the board or the board’s designee orders delivery of the written authority and if the employee refuses to deliver it within 10 days after being ordered to do so, the employee’s rights to benefits under this chapter are suspended until the written authority is delivered.  During any period of suspension under this subsection, the employee’s benefits under this chapter or forfeited unless the board, or the court determining an action brought for the recovery of damaged and under this chapter, determines that good cause existed for the refusal to provide the written authority.  

(c) At a prehearing on discovery matters conducted by the board’s designee, the board’s designee shall direct parties to sign releases or produce documents, or both, if the parties present releases or documents that are likely to lead to admissible evidence relative to an employee’s injury.  If a party refuses to comply with an order by the board’s designee or the board concerning discovery matters, the board may impose appropriate sanctions in addition to any forfeiture of benefits, including dismissing the party’s claim, petition, or defense. . . .

An employee’s claim was dismissed for failure to cooperate with discovery, and the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (AWCAC) affirmed.  “Therefore, the commission concludes the board did not abuse its discretion because McKenzie willfully and repeatedly failed to comply with its orders and her misconduct was so egregious that no lesser sanction would be effective.”  McKenzie v. Assets, Inc., AWCAC Appeal No. 08-020 (May 14, 2009).  The AWCAC Chair offered a dissent on the dismissal issue:

However, I dissent from the commission’s decision to affirm dismissal of McKenzie’s claims as a sanction for failure to appear at deposition for two reasons.


First, I believe that the board had lesser sanctions available and that the claim ‘death knell’ should not sound until the board has attempted a lesser sanction for the specific conduct resulting in dismissal.  I disagree with my fellow appeals commissioners on the availability of lesser sanctions to the board in this case. . . .  


However, the question is not whether the employer could suspend or forfeit benefits, but whether the board could do so.  Even if the board could not order the suspension or forfeiture of benefits or compensation, the board had lesser sanctions available that should have been imposed in an incremental fashion, so that dismissal of the claim is not the only sanction imposed after a series of orders directing compliance and warning of possible claim dismissal. . . .


Second, the board was not assured that McKenzie fully understood the effect of Waldron’s conduct and consented to it before her claims were dismissed.  The employee’s only recourse against an employer for injuries arising out of and in the course of employment is a workers’ compensation claim. . . . 


In Bohlmann v. Alaska Constr. & Engineering, Inc., (footnote omitted) the Supreme Court emphasized the board’s obligation to inform an unrepresented party of the facts bearing upon the person’s case.  ‘The board,’ it said, ‘as an adjudicative body with a duty to assist claimants, has a duty similar to that of courts to assist unrepresented litigants’ (footnote omitted). . . .  Here, the board assumed that McKenzie was fully aware of the meaning and possible outcome of Waldon’s (sic) actions in McKenzie’s absence because the prior decisions were mailed directly to McKenzie.  However, the transcript reveals no direct inquiry from the board to McKenzie to establish that McKenzie understood what Waldon (sic) did in the hearing that led to claim dismissal, and consented to it.
In Eppenger v. Chris Berg, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0147 (May 31, 2005), the board dismissed several claims made by a widow on behalf of her deceased husband after she refused several requests to sign discovery releases and briefly participated by phone in a prior hearing and said  she “just wants this case dismissed.”  Finding this was a “clear indication that she never intends to comply with the legitimate discovery requests,” the board dismissed all claims for failure to comply with discovery requests (id. at 7).

Sec. 23.30.110.  Procedure on claims.  (a) Subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.105, a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability . . . and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim. . . .

The language “all questions” is limited to questions raised by the parties or by the agency upon notice duly given to the parties.  Simon v. Alaska Wood Products, 633 P.2d 252, 256 (Alaska 1981).  The board may not decline to hear disputes concerning a validly filed claim.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction, 814 P.2d 1369, 1372 (Alaska 1991).

Sec. 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (emphasis in original).  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits he seeks are compensable (id.).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  
The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability or need for medical care and his employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment (Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316) or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  “Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between the disability and the employment. . . .”  Burgess Construction Co., 623 P.2d at 316.  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).
Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence to the contrary.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994) citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054, citing Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P. 2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Id. at 1055.  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054.  

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381 (citing Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046).  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller, 577 P.2d at 1049 (Alaska 1978).  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption (id. at 1046).  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board (id. at 1049).  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision with only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.  Black v. Universal Services, 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).  

Sec. 23.30.130.  Modification of awards.  (a) Upon its own initiative, or upon the application of any party in interest on the ground of a change in conditions, including, for the purposes of AS 23.30.175, a change in residence, or because of a mistake in its determination of a fact, the board may, before one year after the date of the last payment of compensation benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, whether or not a compensation order has been issued, or before one year after the rejection of a claim, review a compensation case under the procedure prescribed in respect of claims in AS 23.30.110. Under AS 23.30.110 the board may issue a new compensation order which terminates, continues, reinstates, increases, or decreases the compensation, or award compensation.


(b) A new order does not affect compensation previously paid, except that an award increasing the compensation rate may be made effective from the date of the injury, and if part of the compensation due or to become due is unpaid, an award decreasing the compensation rate may be made effective from the date of the injury, and payment made earlier in excess of the decreased rate shall be deducted from the unpaid compensation, in the manner the board determines.

The Alaska Supreme Court discussed AS 23.30.130(a) in Interior Paint Company v. Rodgers, 522 P.2d 161 (Alaska 1974) stating: “The plain import of this amendment [adding ‘mistake in a determination of fact’ as a ground for review] was to vest a deputy commissioner with broad discretion to correct mistakes of fact whether demonstrated by wholly new evidence, cumulative evidence, or merely further reflection on the evidence initially submitted.”  Quoting from O’Keeffe v. Aerojet-General Shipyards, Inc., 404 U.S. 254, 256 (1971).  An examination of all previous evidence is not mandatory whenever there is an allegation of mistake in determination of fact under AS 23.30.130(a).  “The concept of ‘mistake’ requires careful interpretation.  It is clear that an allegation of mistake should not be allowed to become a back-door route to retrying a case because one party thinks he can make a better showing on the second attempt” (id. at 169; citing 3 Larson, The Law of Workmen’s Compensation § 81.52, at 354.8 (1971)).

An “application for adjustment” rather than a petition, filed within the one-year time limit prescribed by AS 23.30.130 is timely filed even though the board decided to treat the claimant’s application for adjustment as a petition for modification after more than a year passed from the decision for which the claimant sought modification.  The date the claimant filed an application for adjustment of claim or petition “is the date that controls under AS 23.30.130.”  Hodges v. Alaska Constructors, Inc., 957 P.2d 957, 960 (Alaska 1998).  Petitions to “reopen” a claim are properly treated as a petition for modification under AS 23.30.130.  Hulsey v. Johnson & Holen, 814 P.2d 327 (Alaska 1991).  In the case of a factual mistake or a change in conditions, a party “may ask the board to exercise its discretion to modify the award at any time until one year” after the last compensation payment is made, or the board rejected a claim.   George Easley Co. v. Lindekugel, 117 P.3d 734, 743 (Alaska 2005).  Section 130 confers continuing jurisdiction over workers’ compensation matters (id.)  By comparison and contrast, a petition for reconsideration has a fifteen day time limit for the request and the board’s power to reconsider “expires thirty days after the decision has been mailed . . . and if the board takes no action on a petition, it is considered denied” (id. at n. 36).  See also Williams v. Safeway Stores, 525 P.2d 1087, 1088 (Alaska 1974) (AS 23.30.130 “requires that the application for modification be made ‘before one year after the date of last payment of compensation.’”).  But see Ayele v. Unisea, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0017 at 3 (January 18, 2001) (Holding “the Board’s power to modify a decision expires one year after a decision is issued or compensation (not medical expenses) is paid.”).  See also Zimmerman-Cummings v. Dynair Services, AWCB Decision 98-0057 (March 19, 1998) for a similar holding.

Nothing in AS 23.30.130(a)’s language limits the “mistakes in determination of fact” basis for review to issues relating solely to disability.  “We hold that under Alaska’s . . . compensation provisions there is no limitation as to the type of fact coming within the ambit of the statutory ‘mistake in its determination of a fact’ review criterion.  More particularly, under AS 23.30.130(a), the Board has the authority to review an order in which a claim has been rejected because of a mistake in its determination of a fact even if the fact relates to the question of liability or causation.”  Fischback & Moore of Alaska, Inc. v. Lynn, 453 P.2d 478 (Alaska 1969).  Lynn adopted language from Jarka Corp. v. Hughes, 299 F.2d 534 (2nd Cir. 1962), which said:

In order to modify a previous order on the theory of mistake, a new order should make it clear that it is doing so, should review the evidence of the first hearing and should indicate in what respect the first order was mistaken -- whether in the inaccuracy of the evidence, in the impropriety of the inferences drawn from it, or, as may be true in the present case, because of the impossibility of detecting the existence of the particular condition at the time of the earlier order.


Lynn also cited from a U.S. Supreme Court case construing language from the almost identical provision in the Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act, which noted: “We find nothing in this legislative history to support the respondent’s argument that a ‘determination of fact’ means only some determinations of fact and not others.”  Lynn at 483; citing Banks v. Chicago Grain Trimmers Ass’n, 390 U.S. 459 (1968), rehearing denied, 391 U.S. 929 (1968).  If the board articulates mistakes of fact, it may ultimately rule it is no longer in accord with its initial conclusions, which new ruling must be supported by substantial evidence.  Lynn at 484.  “Substantial evidence” is defined as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might find adequate to support a conclusion.  Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065, 1069 (Alaska 1997).

Sec. 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

Sec. 23.30.140.  Appointment of guardian by court.
  The director may require the appointment of a guardian or other representative by a competent court for any person who is mentally incompetent or a minor to receive compensation payable to the person under this chapter and to exercise the powers granted to or to perform the duties required of the person under this chapter. If the director does not require the appointment of a guardian to receive the compensation of a minor, appointment for this purpose is not necessary.

Former AS 23.30.140 grants the board only the authority to “require” appointment of a guardian or representative for Board proceedings.  Lanpher, AWCB Decision No. 03-0035 (February 14, 2003).  See also, Thomas, AWCB Decision No. 93-0259 (October 14, 1993).  “That section does not, however, give us the authority to determine a person to be incompetent.
Declarations of incompetence must be made by the Alaska Superior Court.”  Lacy v. Hotel Captain Cook, AWCB Decision No. 99-0255 (December 14, 1999).  In Lacy the board granted the employee 30 days to initiate proceedings in Superior Court to determine if he was eligible to have a court-appointed guardian because of mental incompetence, pursuant to AS 13.26.090 et. seq. and to contact the Office of Public Advocacy for assistance (id.).  But see Clark v. Reach, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 97-0254 at 3 (December 15, 1997) (“It appears that AS 23.30.140 requires us to make at least a preliminary finding of mental incompetence in order for us to ‘require’ the appointment of a guardian.”).  “The board was created by the act and its authority is limited to the powers and duties prescribed by that act.”  Gunter v. Kathy-O-Estates, 87 P.3d 65, 69 (Alaska 2004).

AS 45.62.540.  Reconsideration.  (a) The agency may order a reconsideration of all or part of the case on its own motion or on petition of a party.  To be considered by the agency, a petition for reconsideration must be filed with the agency within 15 days after delivery or mailing of the decision.  The power to order a reconsideration expires 30 days after the delivery or mailing of a decision to the respondent.  If no action is taken on a petition within the time allowed for ordering reconsideration, the petition is considered denied.


(b) The case may be reconsidered by the agency on all the pertinent parts of the record and the additional evidence and argument that are permitted, or may be assigned to a hearing officer.  A reconsideration assigned to a hearing officer is subject to the procedure provided in AS 44.62.500.  If oral evidence is introduced before the agency, an agency member may not vote unless that member has heard the evidence.

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence. . . . 

. . .


(b) The order in which evidence and argument is presented at the hearing will be in the discretion of the board, unless otherwise expressly provided by law. All proceedings must afford every party a reasonable opportunity for a fair hearing.

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

. . .


(2) to introduce exhibits; . . . .


(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter. Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. . . . 


(f) Any document, including a compensation report, controversion notice, claim, application for adjustment of claim, request for a conference, affidavit of readiness for hearing, petition, answer, or a prehearing summary, that is served upon the parties, accompanied by proof of service, and that is in the board’s possession 20 or more days before hearing, will, in the board’s discretion, be relied upon by the board in reaching a decision unless a written request for an opportunity to cross-examine the document’s author is filed with the board and served upon all parties at least 10 days before the hearing. . . . 

. . .


(m) The board will not consider evidence or legal memoranda filed after the board closes the hearing record, unless the board, upon its motion, determines that the hearing was not completed and reopens the hearing record for additional evidence or legal memoranda.  The board will give the parties written notice of reopening the hearing record, will specify what additional documents are to be filed, and the deadline for filing the documents.

In Arline v. Evergreen International Aviation, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0221 (August 24, 1998), an employer requested a Board order compelling a widow in a non-controverted case in which she was obtaining death benefits and in which there was no claim pending to submit to a discovery deposition.  The board declined, holding an employer has no right to discovery by deposition where there is no pending “proceeding” analogous to a civil action for benefits.  The board found the employer’s argument its petition to compel created a “proceeding” and justification for discovery both “circular and frivolous.”

8 AAC 45.150.  Rehearings and modification of board orders.  (a) The board will, in its discretion, grant a rehearing to consider modification of an award only upon the grounds stated in AS 23.30.130.


(b) A party may request a rehearing or modification of a board order by filing a petition for a rehearing or modification and serving the petition on all parties in accordance with 8 AAC 45.060.

. . .


(d) A petition for a rehearing or modification based on an alleged mistake of fact by the board must set out specifically and in detail


(1) the facts upon which the original award was based;


(2) the facts alleged to be erroneous, the evidence in support of the allegations of mistake, and, if a party has newly discovered evidence, an affidavit from the party or the party’s representative stating the reason why, with due diligence, the newly discovered evidence supporting the allegation could not have been discovered and produced at the time of the hearing; and


(3) the effect that a finding of the alleged mistake would have upon the existing board order or award.


(e) A bare allegation of change of conditions or mistake of fact without specification of details sufficient to permit the board to identify the facts challenged will not support a request for a rehearing or a modification.


(f) In reviewing a petition for a rehearing or modification the board will give due consideration to any argument and evidence presented in the petition.  The board, in its discretion, will decide whether to examine previously submitted evidence.

ANALYSIS

1) Does the board have subject matter jurisdiction to determine whether or not Employee, because of her mental status, understood the requirement to sign discovery releases and the consequences of her failure to sign releases at all relevant times before her case was dismissed in 2006?

This is a legal question.  The Superior Court is vested with primary jurisdiction over protective and guardianship proceedings.   However, this case does not currently involve a request for a guardian or for a protective proceeding.  Consequently, a determination of whether or not Employee was “mentally incompetent” before or on December 20, 2006, when she failed or refused to sign releases as directed is not required to resolve this issue.  Employee’s modification petition does not seek an order stating Employee was mentally incompetent on or before December 20, 2006.  Her petition simply states the previous panel erred in its factual findings by inferring Employee was a normal, mentally healthy person fully capable of understanding the legal process, when she was not, as discussed infra.  Employee argues the board panel in December 2006 was unaware of Employee’s medically documented mental impairment, including psychotic symptoms and paranoia when it found she “no longer apparently wishes to pursue her claims” against Employer.  Employee has a right to bring this petition, and seek modification by asking for a review of wholly new evidence, cumulative evidence, or merely further reflection on the evidence initially submitted.  The law gives the board express, statutory authority to hear and determine “all questions” in respect to the claim.  Whether or not Employee understood the legal process before or at the December 20, 2006 hearing, and the ramifications of her actions, is a question in respect to this claim.  That issue does not require a finding of mental incompetency, nor does it invoke elements of guardianship or protective procedures.  Medical doctors and the Social Security Administration gave mental health diagnoses and found mental health impairment, and these facts are in evidence in the record.  Therefore, nothing in Employee’s petition invokes unauthorized Board action, or action beyond that conferred in the Act.  Consequently, Employee’s petition clearly falls within the Act’s parameters and within the board’s subject matter jurisdiction.

2) Was Employee’s December 21, 2007 “Motion to Reopen Case” timely filed, and does the board still have authority to decide it?

This too is a legal question.  Employee had a pending worker’s compensation claim in December 2006; a prior panel rejected that claim, dismissing it in its entirety with prejudice because Employee failed or refused to sign certain discovery releases.  The law provided Employee one year from the board’s decision denying and dismissing her claim, i.e., “rejecting” it, to seek modification by filing a modification request.  Employee’s claim was not actually denied and dismissed and thus “rejected” until the December 29, 2006 D & O was issued.  Accordingly, Employee’s December 21, 2007 petition for modification was timely filed.  

Employer provided no decisional law to support its argument late service or filing of an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing months after filing the petition for modification affected or ended the board’s authority to hear and decide Employee’s timely filed petition.  Employer has not suggested it was prejudiced in any way by tardy service of the timely filed petition; Employee’s request for hearing was not filed until months later, and Employer could have filed its own hearing request on Employee’s petition at any time had it wanted to push the issue to hearing.  Nothing in the law prevents the board from deciding Employee’s petition on these grounds.

Furthermore, Employer offers only conclusory argument without citing to any decisional law for the proposition the board must “exercise its jurisdiction” to modify under §130 “before one year after the rejection of a claim.”  This argument is contrary to Alaska Supreme Court precedent to the contrary supra and is supported only obtusely by two Board decisions, Ayele and Zimmerman-Cummings, also cited supra, which are similarly at odds with Court precedent, and will not be followed in this decision.  Employer’s suggested procedure would create a system wherein a party who files a petition for modification on the 364th day following a Board D & O would have but one day in which the Board could consider his petition.  Since the law allows an opposing party twenty days in which to answer a petition, plus three more days if the petition was served by mail, a party would actually have to file a petition for modification twenty-three days before the one year expired, which would still leave the Board with no time at all to review the evidence and issue its decision, even though the petition was timely filed.  Furthermore, Employer’s interpretation fails to consider other things that might delay Board review of a decision or issuance of a new D & O, such as hearing officers temporarily having additional duties that create a backlog in issuing decisions.  Nothing in §130 gives notice of or fairly implies this result; by comparison and contrast, parties are forewarned in AS 44.62.540 the board’s power to “reconsider,” as opposed to its power to modify, expires on a date certain and if the Board takes no action before that date, the reconsideration petition is deemed denied.  The only time limitation in §130 is the requirement a party file its petition for reconsideration within one year of statutorily specified events.  Had the legislature wanted to place a time limit on the board’s power under §130 to exercise its discretion to modify after a timely petition was filed, it could have and would have done so.  It did not.  Consequently, nothing in the law prevents the board from deciding Employee’s petition on these grounds either.

3) Did the board make a mistake in its determination of a fact in its December 29, 2006 
D & O?

This is a factual issue to which the resumption of compensability applies.  In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step, and without regard to credibility, Employee testified she understood Employer could only go back two years prior to the date of her injury to obtain medical records.  She said the paperwork she obtained from the board office made no sense to her and she was trying to get an attorney.  Employee at the 2006 hearing expressly stated she did not understand how her claim could possibly be dismissed given she had just received the releases Employer wanted her to sign.    In early 2007, Employee told her case worker she did not trust anyone, including the woman in Eagle River who claimed to be her mother.  She subsequently was institutionalized for mental illness, began taking medication again, improved and sought out and obtained a new lawyer to “reopen” her claim.  At the May 13, 2009 hearing, Employee said the discovery releases told “lies” and that is why she would not sign them; she did not think “closing the case” mattered because she could just get a lawyer and “fight it.”  She testified she did not sign the releases in 2006 because she did not understand what they were about at that time.  Employee testified she had mental health treatment for years and took anti-psychotic medicine but had no idea why.  She did not trust her former lawyer and that is another reason why she refused to sign releases.  The case dismissal in 2006 meant nothing to her and was “irrelevant.”  Employee’s mother testified Employee stopped taking her anti-psychotic medication in summer 2006, “went backwards,” and resumed hearing voices.  This threshold evidence is sufficient to raise the §120 presumption and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim she did not understand the nature of the 2006 proceedings because of her previously diagnosed mental illness and paranoia, which affected her judgment and ability to understand.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, without regard to credibility, Dr. Goranson opined Employee was “psychiatrically and legally competent” at the time of the December 20, 2006 hearing.  This is substantial evidence to rebut the §120 presumption.  Since Employer produced substantial evidence Employee was psychiatrically and legally competent at the December 20, 2006 hearing, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of her claim she did not understand the legal process or its consequences by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.

In giving due consideration to Employee’s arguments as well as Employer’s position, by considering wholly new evidence, cumulative evidence, and further reflection on the evidence initially submitted, it is determined the prior panel’s order was mistaken because it inferred Employee was a normal, mentally healthy person prior to and at the time of the December 20, 2006 hearing and was thus making volitional decisions in respect to her claim.  Specifically, the prior panel was mistaken when it found Employee did not want to pursue her claims against Employer. To the contrary, Employee objected to her claim’s dismissal and queried how it could possibly be dismissed.  Though the record before the panel at the time of the December 20, 2006 hearing clearly showed Employee was formally diagnosed with “paranoid schizophrenia,” the panel was unaware of this fact and the effect it had on her judgment.  Considerable weight is given to Dr. Gritzka’s credible SIME report in which he noted Employee’s lapses in attention and lost contact with his line of questioning and in which he repeatedly advised Employee had mental health issues which he opined were affecting her symptoms; he said she needed a psychiatric evaluation.  

Furthermore, wholly new evidence adduced after the December 20, 2006 hearing convincingly shows Employee suffered a major, psychotic break just days prior to Employer asking her to sign releases in May 2006; and this break continued for months following the hearing.  These are the same, original releases giving rise to this whole discovery dispute.  Social Security determined she was “disabled” retroactively to several months before her hearing because of her medically documented mental illness.  It is highly unlikely Employee in her then mental state without assistance from counsel could have produced this medical and Social Security information before the December 2006 hearing.  Her current counsel could not attest to availability of this new information because he did not represent her at that time.  

It is not surprising a person suffering from “paranoid” schizophrenia, poorly controlled on no or reduced medication would be, as the overwhelming weight of the evidence shows Employee was, distrustful of their attorney, Board staff, opposing counsel in litigation or even a hearing officer.  Employee was not even trustful of her own mother -- i.e., she was not sure her mother was really her mother.  Employee’s mental health records, which medically document delusional and paranoid thinking tract perfectly chronologically with her inability to trust her lawyer’s advice, sign medical releases, or accept counsel from others to disabuse her of her legal misconception about the two-year medical record release rule.  Her medically documented psychotic break occurred just a few days prior to the May 19, 2006 letter from Employer to her lawyer with the subject releases attached.  That break is medically documented to have continued beyond the time her former attorney withdrew, probably in utter frustration.  Even EME Dr. Goranson noted Employee’s hallucinations on August 1, 2006, evidenced “a very serious psychotic symptom.”

The prior panel made essentially five factual findings, some of which were factual conclusions.  First, it found Employer made multiple requests for Employee’s voluntary compliance in signing releases and only sought Board assistance when Employee did not comply.  The panel made no error in the first part of that finding, but as to the second part, in light of further evidentiary review, the record convincingly shows Employee’s refusal to sign the releases was not volitional but rather was fueled by her paranoid, psychotic break which began just days before the releases were first tendered.  

Second, the prior panel likened this case to the Eppenger case and result.  However, the panel mistakenly assumed by inference Employee was healthy mentally and simply refused to sign because she was contumacious.  In fact, substantial evidence discussed supra shows Employee was at all relevant times in the midst of a paranoid, delusional break from reality, which by a preponderance of the evidence caused her inability to rationally understand the legal process as it pertained to releases.  By contrast, the employee in Eppenger specifically asked for her claim to be dismissed and there is no hint of any mental illness in that case.  Here, Employee objected strenuously to her case being “closed.”  

Third, the prior panel factually concluded the SIME was unnecessarily incurred and would cost even more should Employee’s case proceed.  No opinion is expressed about the “necessity” of the SIME and what might occur in the future because those issues are not currently raised and not presently ripe for adjudication. 

Fourth, upon further reviewing the evidence, the current panel is not in accord with the 2006 panel’s finding Employee “expressed she understood” the finality of her claim’s dismissal if she failed to sign releases.  The 2006 panel was mistaken.  During final remarks and testimony at the 2006 hearing, the hearing officer made a lengthy statement including his vacation plans, when the D & O might be written, what would happen if the releases were not signed and then said “all right?” to which Employee responded “okay.”  The instant panel is not in accord with the prior panel’s inference this response evidenced Employee understood the nature of a dismissal for failure to sign releases; she may have been acknowledging she heard what the chair said about his vacation affecting the D & O’s issuance date.  Furthermore, experience, judgment, observations, the unique and peculiar facts of this case, and inferences drawn from the above suggest even a mentally healthy person’s use of the word “okay” in this context does not necessarily equate to “yes, I understand.”  

Lastly, upon further reviewing the evidence, the current panel is not in accord with the prior panel’s finding “these representations,” i.e., Employee stating “okay,” evidenced her desire to no longer pursue her claim.  By contrast, Employee repeatedly expressed she had a good claim, and a preponderance of the evidence convincingly shows when her paranoid psychotic break improved following her API commitment in late August 2007, she sought a new attorney to file a petition to reopen her claim.  Under the highly unusual and unique facts in this case, and under these circumstances, the overwhelming preponderance of the evidence and reasonable inferences from it compels the conclusion it would be unconscionable to leave Employee’s claim dismissed.  The legislature intended injured worker’s cases to be decided on their merits when possible -- and not to be dismissed simply because an unrepresented, paranoid schizophrenic claimant in the medically documented throes of a psychotic break could not accept or understand clear legal advice.  

4) Shall the hearing record from the July 15, 2009 hearing be reopened to allow additional evidence concerning Employee’s failure to sign post-July 15, 2009-hearing releases?

The hearing record for the hearing on the merits of Employee’s petition to reopen her dismissed claim closed on July 15, 2009.  The regulations do not allow for consideration of additional evidence or legal memoranda after the record is closed, unless it is determined the hearing was not completed and the record is reopened to accept additional evidence or argument.  Here, Employer filed post-hearing documents and requested oral argument, which was granted solely to determine the purpose for Employer’s post-hearing filings and give Employer an opportunity to be heard.  The hearing record was complete, the record closed on July 15, 2009, and there is no need for additional evidence or argument.  Furthermore, in light of Employee’s counsel’s statement he directed Employee not to sign the subsequent set of releases because her claim was at that time “dismissed,” Employee’s failure to sign those additional releases is not relevant to the issues heard at the July 15, 2009 hearing.  Thus, there is no reason to reopen the record to include that material.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) The board has subject matter jurisdiction to determine whether or not Employee, because of her mental status, understood the requirement to sign discovery releases and the consequences of her failure to sign releases at all relevant times before her case was dismissed in 2006.

2) Employee’s December 21, 2007 “Petition to Reinstate Workers’ Compensation Claim” was timely filed, and the board still has authority to decide it.

3) The board made mistakes in its determination of facts in its December 29, 2006 
D & O.

4) The hearing record from the July 15, 2009 hearing shall not be reopened to allow additional evidence concerning Employee’s failure to sign post-July 15, 2009-hearing releases.


ORDER
1) Employee’s December 21, 2007 Petition to Reinstate Workers’ Compensation Claim is granted.

2) The board’s D & O No. 06-0337 (December 29, 2006) is modified in conformance with this decision and as a result is vacated.

3) Employee’s claim is reinstated for further proceedings.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December 16, 2009.
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RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

EXTRAORDINARY REVIEW

Within 10 days after the date of service of the Board’s decision and order from which review is sought and before the filing of a timely request for reconsideration of the Board decision and order from which review is sought, a party may file a motion for extraordinary review seeking review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision or order with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission under 8 AAC 57.072 and 8 AAC 57.074.
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of SYLVIA A. ENGLISH Employee / applicant v. DENALI FOODS INC; TACO BELL, Employer; WAUSAU UNDERWRITERS INSURANCE, insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 200508120, 200523681; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on December 16, 2009.
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� Id. at 12-14.


� Former AS 23.30.140, applicable to this date of injury, included the word “board” for “director.”  This appears to be strictly a procedural change, which makes no difference in this case.
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